FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/28/2023 1:38 PM No. 101844-4

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/28/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II NO. 56653-2-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

v.

TIM EYMAN AND TIM EYMAN WATCHDOG FOR TAXPAYERS LLC,

Appellants/Petitioners

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Richard B. Sanders, WSBA # 2813 Carolyn A. Lake, WSBA # 13980 Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 S G Street Tacoma, WA 98405

Telephone: 253-779-4000

Email: rsanders@goodsteinlaw.com clake@goodsteinlaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Mr. Tim Eyman and Tim Eyman Watchdog for Taxpayers,
LLC through their attorney Richard B. Sanders of the
Goodstein Law Group, PLLC files this petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION Petitioner seeks review of *State v. Eyman*, 24 Wn. App. 795, 521 P.3d 265 (2022).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Continuing Political Committee

Is an individual properly characterized as a "continuing political committee" as defined by RCW 42.17A.005(14) when he is neither an "organization" nor does he have the "expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of...any ballot proposition", *Id.* at (41), but raises money through charitable contributions to pay his own personal non-electoral expenses?

B. CR 37 Order Imposing Continuing Political Committee

As an ancillary issue if the answer to issue "A" is "no," is it error for the trial court acting under CR 37(b)(2)(A) to declare one a continuing political committee when such an order violates strict criteria of necessity, prejudice and relevance detailed in the accompanying argument?

C. Properly Reporting Payments to Vendor

Does a political committee properly report actual payments to a signature gathering vendor, rather than an officer of the political committee, if the vendor subsequently pays that committee officer from its profits for a personal consulting contract?

D. No Duty to Report Loans to Donor

Does a person or other entity which loans money to a potential in-kind donor to a ballot measure campaign without reporting the loan to the Public Disclosure Commission (PDC) engage in concealment prohibited by RCW 42.17A.435 when

the ballot measure campaign committee fully reports the inkind contributions from the borrower?

E. Only Treasurer Has Duty to Report

Does a political committee officer who is not the treasurer have a duty, or even the ability or right, under the Fair Campaign Practices Act (FCPA) to report campaign contributions or expenditures to the PDC in addition to reports filed by the treasurer?

F. No Statutory Authority for Injunction

Is the entire injunction entered by the trial court without statutory authority because it does not enjoin a person from doing an act prohibited or compel the performance of an act required by the FCPA contrary to RCW 42.17A.750(1)(i)?

G. State Not Entitled to Attorney Fees

As a prevailing party in an action brought by the State of Washington, is the State entitled to recover its reasonable

attorney fees under RCW 42.17A.780 notwithstanding the statute was previously amended in 2018 by ESHB 2938 to specifically delete the State's entitlement to such an award?

H. FCPA Unconstitutional As Applied

As an ancillary issue to be reached if the Published

Opinion is not reversed on statutory grounds, is the FCPA and
injunction unconstitutional under the First Amendment to the

United States Constitution and Article I Section 5 of the

Washington Constitution as applied by the Published Opinion
because (1) both are unconstitutionally vague; (2) the FCPA is
construed inconsistently liberal or strict depending on whether
the remedy sought in a particular case is civil or criminal; and

(3) both unconstitutionally violate freedom of speech including
the right to solicit charitable contributions, advocate political
issues, and associate anonymously with others?

IV. Statement of the Case¹

Tim Eyman appeals the trial court's ruling that Eyman engaged in multiple violations of the Fair Campaign Practices Act (FCPA), the imposition of a monetary penalty of over \$2.6 million plus nearly \$3 million in attorney fees, and an injunction prohibiting Eyman from engaging in a wide range of activities. The violations arose from four incidents.

First, Eyman filed initiative 1185 in 2012 and served as an officer on the campaign committee. Mr. Stan Long, CPA and former IRS auditor, served as the treasurer and timely filed all reports. The committee hired Citizen Solutions to collect signatures to help I-1185 qualify for the ballot, agreeing to pay a fixed price for signatures totaling \$1,050,000². Eyman agreed with Citizen Solutions to increase the price per signature twice

¹ The following is largely verbatim from the Published Opinion without further attribution but has been supplemented to further address issues raised in this petition.

² Exhibit 153

during the campaign to provide an additional incentive directly to signature gathers (not vendor profit)³ for a total contract price of approximately \$1,240,000⁴. The committee treasurer reported all payments to Citizen Solutions to the Public Disclosure Commission (PDC) totaling \$1,245,475.⁵ After I-1185 signatures were gathered, Citizen Solutions paid Eyman \$308,185.50 for a consulting contract. Neither the campaign committee treasurer nor Eyman reported that payment to the PDC. Trial court Finding 2.17 accurately states the facts exactly as reported by Treasurer Long:

From April 11-July 6, 2012, Defendant Eyman's political committee and other sponsors paid Defendant Citizen Solutions, LLC \$1,245,475 to gather signatures to qualify I-1185 for the 2012 ballot.

Second, Eyman filed initiative 517 later in 2012, and served as an officer on the campaign committee with Stan Long

³ Exhibit 83

 $^{^{4}}$ (Ex.82 + \$100,000 at .50 cents/signature) + (Ex. 85 + \$90,000 at \$1.50) = \$190,000

⁵ Finding 2.17

also its treasurer. Eyman's LLC loaned \$200,000 to Citizens in Charge. Citizens in Charge then provided \$182,806 of in-kind signature gathering services to the I-517 campaign. Citizens in Charge later repaid Eyman \$103,000 of the loan. I-517's committee treasurer, Stan Long, reported Citizen in Charge's in-kind donations but did not report the loan nor repayments believing the FCPA did not require such loan activity be reported.

Third, in 2017 Eyman's political committee was owed a \$23,008 refund from Databar, Inc., a vendor. Instead returning the refund to the committee, the refund was transferred to Eyman's personal account by agreement of the other officers. The committee treasurer Barbara Smith did not report this payment. By the time Mr. Eyman discovered the error a new person had assumed the duties of treasurer and was unwilling to amend the report because she wasn't treasurer at the time. So

⁶ Finding 3.5, "Eyman received \$103,000 in loan repayments."

Mr. Eyman petitioned the PDC to allow *him* (a committee officer) to amend the report.⁷ The PDC refused, holding under the statute *only* the treasurer was granted responsibility to electronically report, and Eyman was not the treasurer.⁸

Fourth, Eyman solicited charitable donations from supporters to pay his living expenses. The donations were not for any specific initiative campaign, but Eyman communicated that he needed the donations to continue working on ballot initiatives. He received over \$800,000 in donations, which he used only for personal purposes. Eyman neither registered as a political committee nor a "continuing political committee," nor reported any of these donations to the PDC.

Following a bench trial, the trial court ruled that Eyman violated the FCPA by failing to report to the PDC (1) that certain payments made to Citizen Solutions were to pay Eyman

⁷ Ex. 194, Perkins: RP 296-298, Eyman: RP 805-808

⁸ Perkins: RP 298, 302-304, Eyman RP 805-808, WAC 390-19-010

rather than signature gathering, (2) the loan he made to Citizens in Charge and the payment he received from Citizens in Charge, (3) the Databar refund he received, and (4) the personal contributions he received. The court imposed a civil penalty against Eyman totaling over \$2.6 million and awarded over \$2.8 million in reasonable attorney fees and costs to the State. The court also issued an injunction, precluding Eyman from engaging in certain activities regarding political committees and from receiving any gifts or donations without establishing a continuing political committee.

The Published Opinion largely affirmed however reversed the trial court's conclusion Eyman violated the FCPA by failing to report receipt of a \$103,000 loan repayment from Citizens in Charge (but refused to remit the judgment in that amount); reversed portions of the injunction (refusing to consider other provisions) as outside the statutory authorization to order what the FCPA requires and prohibit what it forbids;

and remanded to reconsider application of the excessive fines clause.

The Published Opinion rejected Mr. Eyman's claim that the FCPA be strictly construed against the government because it has criminal penalties and trenched on First Amendment rights, holding it should be liberally construed in favor of the government because only civil penalties were imposed in this particular case, i.e. it would be construed inconsistently depending on whether civil or criminal penalties were sought.

Contrary to the argument of either party the Published

Opinion found numerous provisions of the FCPA ambiguous,
resolving all such ambiguities in favor of the State, e.g. holding
a non-treasurer responsible for a treasurer's alleged reporting
violation; holding the definition of a "political committee" and
"continuing political committee" ambiguous, even expressly
rejecting the "plain meaning."

The Published Opinion rejected heightened standards of review to justify restrictions on First Amendment rights requiring "exacting" or "strict" scrutiny, refused an independent review of the record, only determining if there was sufficient evidence present to justify a factual finding, and refused to apply exacting First Amendment scrutiny to State claims targeting charitable solicitations, all contrary to *State v. TVI*, *Inc., d/b/a Value Village*, No. 100493-1 (Wash. Sup. Ct. February 23, 2023)

V. ARGUMENT

Review of this Published Opinion should be accepted because (1) it conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court; (2) conflicts with published decisions of the Court of Appeals; (3) raises significant questions under the state and U.S. constitutions; and (4) raises issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)

The entire proceeding at trial and on appeal puts at issue the construction and application of the FCPA as well as the constitutionality of the statute as applied to Mr. Eyman. This is a **published** opinion of far-reaching public importance.

Issue A: Characterizing Mr. Eyman Individually As a "Continuing Political Committee"

This holding in the Published Opinion is unprecedented in this or any jurisdiction, thus it raises an issue of substantial public interest.

RCW 42.17A.005(14) defines "continuing political committee" as "a political committee that is an organization of continuing existence not limited to participation in any particular election campaign or election cycle." Whereas section 41 of the same statute defines "political committee" as "any person…having the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of, or opposition to, any candidate or ballot proposition."

Therefore, by the plain language of the statute, a "continuing political committee" must be (1) an "organization" and (2) have the expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures to support or oppose a candidate or ballot proposition.

The Published Opinion concedes the "plain meaning" of "organization" "does not include a single individual" yet rejected the plain meaning claiming it ambiguous. Opinion ¶146 This is contrary to *State Department of Ecology v*.

Campbell and Gwinn, 146 Wn.2 1, 43 P.3d 4, 10 (2002) which mandates statutes be construed by their plain meaning informed by statutory context. The Opinion reasoned because a single person could be a committee and because a committee could be continuing, therefore a single person could be a continuing committee but, of course, that does not follow from, and is contrary to, the statutory definition. RCW 42.17A.005(41)

As to the "expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in support of...any ballot measure" the Opinion argues "support" is ambiguous, i.e. it may be "direct" or "indirect." No case anywhere has ever found this term ambiguous nor did the State claim it is. Rather the statutory context includes RCW 42.17A.205 which requires committee reporting upon the "expectation of receiving contributions or making expenditures in the *election campaign*." (italics added) The Opinion however reads this statute out of the chapter, as a contribution to Mr. Eyman's personal expenses is obviously not a contribution to an "election campaign." Moreover, even the cannon of liberal construction relied upon by the Opinion by its own language pertains to "financing of political campaigns." RCW 42.17A.001(1), (10)

The Opinion is contrary to multiple Supreme Court opinions construing political committee reporting requirements as only applicable to *campaign* contributions and expenditures: *State v. The (1972) Dan J. Evans Campaign Committee*, 86

Wn.2d 503, 504-509, 546 P.2d 75 (1976) (to be a "political" committee" the Primary purpose must be to expend funds to support or oppose candidates or ballot measures, not "to pay for miscellaneous expenses incurred by" the office holder [or the individual in this case.]); State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass'n, 198 Wn.2d 888, 892, 502 P.3d 806 (2022) ("...the act [FCPA] requires...political committees...to disclose their campaign contributions and spending"); *Utter v. BIAW*, 182 Wn.2d 398, 414, 341 P.3d 953 (2015) (a primary purpose of a campaign committee must be to support or oppose ballot measures); Human Life of Washington v. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990, 1007 (9th Cir, 2010) (The interest is "where political campaign money comes from and how it is spent," political committees must be "campaign related" [at 1009 citing Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 79 (1976)], and political committee disclosure requirements increase as the committee more actively engages in "campaign spending" [at 1013])

But Eyman does *no* "campaign spending," he solicits and spends money only for and on himself for personal expenses.

Moreover, the Published Opinion's disposition of this issue violates Mr. Eyman' First Amendment right to solicit, use, and disclose charitable contributions. See issue "H."

This issue justifies review under all the applicable criteria.

Issue B: Ancillary Issue That Trial Court Imposed "Continuing Political Committee" Legal Conclusion As a CR 37 Discovery Sanction

The Published Opinion did not reach this issue because approximately \$70,000 of the fines imposed on Mr. Eyman for not registering as a committee were added at the time of trial based on pretrial discovery and not dependent on the discovery order or partial summary judgment. Therefore, if the court reverses on Issue A, it should address the propriety of the discovery order.

This order was entered in September 2019 at a time when Mr. Eyman was pro se and unable to complete discovery

demands unrelated to charitable donor identities. The trial date was over a year away. The State sought to designate Mr.

Eyman a "continuing political committee" and hold he received \$766,447 in "political contributions" from charitable donors to pay his personal expenses.

The CR 37 order was premised on the perjured declaration of the state's investigator Tony Perkins who attested in paragraph 32 of his September 5 declaration:

The best example of how the Eyman Defendants' longstanding misconduct in discovery has impaired the State's ability to prepare for trial is their concealment of donor identities.

CP 1197 However in Perkins' cross examination at trial he admitted he had all the cancelled checks for the \$766,447 a year prior to his declaration and that for each of the donors Mr. Eyman "concealed," Perkins had the date of the check, the name of the donor, the amount, the address, and in most cases the phone number as well. RP 396

Entry of the CR 37 order was inconsistent with *Burnett v*. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997); Rivers v. Wash. State Conf. of Mason Contractors, 145 Wn.2d 674, 694-96, 41 P.3d 1175(2002); Marina Condominium v. Stratford, 161 Wn. App. 249, 261, 254 P.3d 827 (2011); and Nieshe v. Concrete School Dist., 129 Wn.App. 632, 127 P.3d 713 (2005) because sanctions are not warranted for discovery the State already had; sanctions at \$250 per day continued; the order imposed legal conclusions rather than purporting to establish discoverable facts; there was no finding Mr. Eyman had the present ability as a pro se to complete other discovery; and there was no proof or analysis on the record of actual prejudice to prepare for trial over a year in the future.⁹

Moreover, CR 37 sanctions "may only affect the claims or defenses to which the discovery would have been pertinent.

This specific relationship is designed to ensure the remedy fits

⁹ Discovery was completed and contempt purged with the assistance of your undersigned's firm in May 2020.

the wrong."¹⁰ However this CR 37 order was entered to mischaracterize charitable donors, not discover them.

The order denied Mr. Eyman a fair trial on the merits and resulted in over a million dollars in fines. This issue should be reviewed as the CR 37 order violated Supreme Court and Court of Appeals published precedent and is of public importance.

Issue C: Properly Reporting Payments to Vendor

The I-1185 campaign treasurer reported all direct and inkind payments to the signature gathering vendor, Citizen Solutions, as stated in the Published Opinion 1. All these payments went from the checking account of the campaign committee or in-kind contributor directly to deposit in the checking account of the vendor. Later using its own profit, the

¹⁰ 7 Moore's Federal Practice (3rd ed.) sec. 37.50[2][c] See e.g. *Fjelstad v. Honda Motor Co., Inc..*, 762 F.2d 1334, 1342-43 (9th Cir. 1985 (Ninth Circuit reverses partial summary judgment after finding the sanction was not specifically related to the claim at issue.)

vendor sent a payment of \$308,000 to Mr. Eyman's LLC in consideration of a consulting contract with Mr. Eyman.

However, because the vendor then sent a payment to Mr. Eyman, the State claimed \$350,000 of the contract price payment should have been reported by the committee treasurer as a direct payment to Mr. Eyman, not the vendor.

RCW 42.17A.235(1)(a) provides each political committee shall file a report of "all contributions received, and expenditures made." Trial court Finding 2.17 found the I-1185 political committee and other sponsors "paid Citizen Solutions \$1,245,475 to gather signatures to qualify I-1185 for the 2012 ballot." And that is exactly how treasurer Long reported it.

The FCPA has no requirement that either the committee or vendor report how the vendor spends its money. The issue meriting review is therefore whether the I-1185 committee violated the FCPA when it reported paying its vendor funds it

actually paid its vendor, and not reporting instead how the vendor expended *its* funds.

This issue of statutory construction merits review because it is inconsistent with the criteria set forth in *Campbell and Gwinn*, *supra*, requiring a statute be construed by its plain meaning, and is of public importance because in essence it requires a political committee to perform the legally impermissible task of reporting how the vendor expends *its* money.

Issue D: Not Reporting Loan to Potential Donor is Not Concealment

The Published Opinion recites Mr. Eyman loaned money to Citizens in Charge with the expectation that organization would make in-kind contributions to the I-517 campaign, and that this loan was not reported (although the in-kind contributions were reported.) This recitation is entirely correct!

However, then the Published Opinion claims this constituted concealment contrary to RCW 42.17A.435. That

statute provides "No contribution shall be made...in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the source of the contribution..." Therefor to be "concealment," there *must* be a reportable "contribution." But a loan is not a contribution.

Rather only a loan "for less than full consideration" is, by definition, a "contribution.' RCW 42.17A.005(15)(a) The Published Opinion and the trial court identified this as a loan and made no finding it was for less than full consideration. 11 All the testimony was it was to be repaid in full, and the trial court found "Eyman received \$103,000 in loan repayments" (Finding 3.5) by the time he filed bankruptcy in November 2018.

^{1 1}

¹¹"The absence of a finding of fact in favor of the party with the burden of proof about a disputed issue is the equivalent of a finding against that party on that issue. [citing cases]" *Car Wash Enterprises, Inc. v. Kampanos*, 74 Wn. App. 537, 546, 874 P.2d 868 (1994)

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