FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/27/2023 1:05 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101844-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TIM EYMAN, et al.,

Appellants.

RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON *Attorney General*

PAUL M. CRISALLI, WSBA #40681 S. TODD SIPE, WSBA #23203 Assistant Attorneys General ERIC S. NEWMAN, WSBA #31521 Litigation Section Chief—Consumer Protection Division OID No. 91157 PO Box 40111 Olympia, WA 98504-0111 (360) 709-6470 Paul.Crisalli@atg.wa.gov Todd.Sipe@atg.wa.gov Eric.Newman@atg.wa.gov Attorneys for Respondent State of Washington

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

the statutory violations were committed by an organization comprised of a single individual rather than two or more individuals. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Eyman is a continuing political committee.

The cases cited by Eyman do not show a conflict but instead buttress the Court of Appeals' analysis. Those cases show that soliciting for contributions *or* making expenditures qualify an entity as a political committee. *State v. (1972) Dan J. Evans Campaign Committee*, 86 Wn.2d 503, 504-09, 546 P.2d 75 (1976). The public undisputedly has a right to know funding sources for political campaigns. *Human Life of Wash. Inc. v. Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d 990, 1007 (9th Cir. 2010). There is no conflict with this Court's decisions or among the appellate courts, and Eyman fails to meet any other RAP 13.4(b) factor.

B. The Superior Court's Non-Monetary Sanction Was Appropriate

Eyman's argument about the non-monetary discovery sanction does not merit review. The Court of Appeals did not reach this issue by addressing the merits of Eyman's "continuing

political committee" argument, so Eyman fails to meet any of the factors warranting review. In any event, Eyman's arguments are devoid of merit and do not warrant review.

Eyman willfully and intentionally violated the discovery rules by refusing to respond to discovery. CP 1795-1796. The State sought information on certain funds Eyman received to determine whether they were contributions. CP 1174-1189. Even after the compel order, Eyman didn't respond, leading the court to sanction him \$250 a day. CP 1796. Eyman refused to respond, so the court increased the daily sanction to \$500. Id. Eyman still refused to respond, but the court rejected a further increase in the daily sanction amount, finding that the increase would not induce Eyman to comply with the rules. CP 1797. After all those months and efforts and court orders, the superior court entered an order detailing the necessity for non-monetary sanctions: "the payments made to Defendant Tim Eyman . . . are hereby found to be 'contributions' in support of ballot initiatives." *Id.* Based on this finding and other undisputed facts, the superior court granted partial summary judgment.

As this Court's Commissioner explained, the superior court properly followed the *Burnet* factors to issue the sanction. Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). Eyman's "egregious history of noncompliance" amply supported the superior court's explicit finding that following all the *Burnet* factors "[a] harsh non-monetary penalty was fully justified." Ruling at 9. As the superior court found, the State suffered prejudice when it had to conduct depositions and other pretrial discovery without valuable information that Eyman withheld, and he "willfully thwarted the State's efforts to prepare for trial, causing significant delay and an obvious waste of resources." Ruling at 9. The superior court considered lesser sanctions—it sanctioned Eyman more than \$200,000 and he still refused to comply. The superior court properly exercised its discretion when entering the non-monetary sanction.

Eyman was pro se only for 9 of the 27 months he was in contempt. He had counsel when he responded incorrectly to the first set of discovery, and he had counsel since at least October 2019. The superior court found Eyman could provide responses, even while pro se. CP 1795-1796.

Next, the superior court *found* that payments to Eyman totaling \$766,447 were political contributions. CP 1797. Even if that were a legal conclusion, CR 37(b)(2)(A) does not preclude the court from making factual findings, but allows it to make an order in regard to the failure as is just and that the "matters regarding which the order was made or any other designated facts" shall be established for purposes of the action. CR 37(b) allows courts to enter default judgments, which inherently prevents a party from making legal arguments.

Eyman's bizarre argument that there was no link between the discovery sought and the sanction is untenable. The sanction can establish matters or facts "in accordance with the claim," CR 37(b)(2)(A), and this sanction focused on aspects of the State's claims to which Eyman provided incomplete discovery.

Last, Eyman repeats his slander that the State's investigator, Tony Perkins, committed perjury. Perkins truthfully testified about reviewing cancelled checks for particular payments, but he did not and could not testify to all payments, as Eyman didn't produce that information. RP (11/17/2020) 231-36, 357-58; RP (12/14/2020) 394-96, 434-36; CP 5358-368. Not until much later in the litigation did the State obtain access to more cancelled checks, and even then, the State did not receive all requested information. CP 5364. The superior court and appellate courts rejected the arguments within Eyman's repeated motions, and this Court should follow suit. This issue doesn't merit review.

C. Eyman Engaged in a Kickback Scheme, Not Simply Dealing with a Vendor

Eyman fails to explain why this Court should review his vendor argument. It is easy to see through his façade, that his relationship with Citizen Solutions was to create a kickback to

benefit himself. Those are the unchallenged findings of the superior court. As Eyman's own emails explained, he arranged a deal where Citizen Solutions charged Eyman's political committee extra, and unbeknownst to Eyman's other partners, Citizen Solutions paid Eyman the extra amount for his work on ballot initiatives. CP 4946-4953. Eyman neglects to mention that superior court finding. His own emails detail the scheme.

Eyman is also wrong on the law. The FCPA focuses on whether a transaction involves a contribution or an expenditure supporting a ballot initiative, not on whether the transaction is with a vendor or another party. *See* RCW 42.17A.235. No FCPA provision categorically excludes transactions with vendors. There is no reason for this Court to review this argument.

D. Eyman's Loan Argument Is a Red Herring

The Court can disregard Eyman's loan argument because the Court of Appeals agreed with Eyman that personal loans do not need to be reported to the PDC. *State v. Eyman*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 795, 828, 521 P.3d 265 (2022). The Court held,

however, that substantial evidence showed that his payments were made "in such a manner as to conceal the identity of the source of the contribution," and as such, were subject to the reporting requirements. *Id.* at 828; RCW 42.17A.435. Eyman does not now challenge that holding, so review should be denied.

E. The FCPA Does Not Regulate Only Treasurers

Eyman next tries to gut the FCPA by arguing that only treasurers can be liable for disclosures/reporting violations by a political committee. As the Court of Appeals held, Eyman's argument is at odds with the legal framework and the facts in this case. *Eyman*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 825-26.

RCW 42.17A.750(1) provides that a "person"—not a candidate, treasurer, or political committee—who violates the FCPA is subject to civil penalties. Thus, a "person," acting as a political committee officer, can be held responsible for the committee's FCPA violations.

The facts here bear that out. Eyman orchestrated the entire scheme. The unchallenged superior court findings make clear

that Eyman was a person authorized to make decisions for his political committees. CP 4946-4956. He knew about the reporting obligations, instructed the treasurer and others to not follow those reporting requirements, and knew that the filings to the PDC were wrong but did not correct them. *Id.* Acting within that authority and making those orders, Eyman was the actual person violating the PDC, and as the Court of Appeals recognized, the FCPA properly holds him accountable for his misconduct.

Further, no statute vests the reporting authority in the treasurer alone, but rather the reporting obligation lies with the committee or candidate. And reading the statute as Eyman proffers would create a massive loophole that would frustrate the FCPA's purpose. A political committee member could purposefully give false information to an unwitting treasurer, using them as a conduit, and no one would be held accountable for the intentional false reporting. The Court should deny review.

F. The FCPA Authorizes Injunctive Relief

Eyman makes a blanket argument that every provision of the injunction exceeded its statutory authority. At the outset, it is undisputed that RCW 42.17A.750(1)(i) allows the superior court to "enjoin any person to prevent the doing of any act herein prohibited, or to compel the performance of any act required herein." That is what the superior court did in issuing its injunction, which the Court of Appeals largely affirmed. The Court of Appeals only held that two specific provisions lacked statutory support. While the State disagrees with that analysis, it does not believe review is warranted here.

Eyman makes no specific argument as to why any other part of the injunction lacks authority. Simply stating that there is no authority, with nothing more, is insufficient to establish an issue warranting this Court's review. Just like before the Court of Appeals, "Eyman presents no meaningful argument regarding them," *Eyman*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 846 n.7, so this Court need not review this undeveloped, unsubstantiated argument.

G. The Court Properly Awarded the State Its Costs and Fees

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court's award of costs and fees for litigating on behalf of the PDC. In 2018, the legislature amended RCW 42.17A.765 to provide that the Attorney General may bring civil actions in the name of the State "[o]nly after a matter is referred by the commission." ESHB 2938, 65th Leg., Reg. Sess. § 14 (2018).

The new RCW 42.17A.780 provides, in pertinent part, that "[i]n any action brought under this chapter, the court may award to the commission all reasonable costs of investigation and trial, including reasonable attorneys' fees to be fixed by the court." After receiving a referral from the PDC, the Attorney General brought the present action under this chapter, litigating on behalf of the PDC. RCW 42.17A.755, .765(1)(a)(i). If the State prevails, fees and costs may be awarded pursuant to RCW 42.17A.780.

The Attorney General is the only one with responsibility to litigate on behalf of the PDC, so an award of costs and fees must be available to give the statutory language any meaning. It

is likely for this reason, as the Court of Appeals noted, that this Court cited RCW 42.17A.780 when awarding fees to the State in *GMA* I. Eyman's argument would turn the fee statute into a nullity, which is why it was properly rejected.

H. Eyman's Constitutional Arguments Are Meritless

Eyman recycles his argument that enforcement of the FCPA violates his First Amendment rights. Not only has this Court upheld the FCPA against similar challenges, appellate courts have specifically rejected Eyman's challenges.² State ex rel. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. 277, 284, 150 P.3d 568 (2006).

Contrary to Eyman's arguments, it is well-established that the FCPA's reporting and disclosure requirements are subject to exacting scrutiny, not strict scrutiny. *GMA* I, 195 Wn.2d at 461. Eyman cites to the rule of lenity in cases addressing criminal

²GMA I, 195 Wn.2d 442; Utter v. Building Industry Ass'n of Washington, 182 Wn.2d 398, 415, 341 P.3d 953; Voters Educ. Comm. v. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, 161 Wn.2d 470, 166 P.3d 1174 (2007); Dan J. Evans, 86 Wn.2d at 508; Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990.

provisions to argue that strict scrutiny applies.³ Pet. at 30. But Eyman conflates statutory construction with the First Amendment's constitutional analysis. The Court should reject this confusion.

Eyman argues that the FCPA is unconstitutionally vague because the Court of Appeals held that several provisions were ambiguous. This argument ignores the difference between an unconstitutionally vague statute and interpreting an ambiguous statute. Here, the Court of Appeals held that FCPA provisions were ambiguous because it concluded there were two reasonable interpretations. Utilizing statutory construction tools, it resolved the ambiguity by looking to other statutory provisions and the

³ Leocal v. Ashcroft is not relevant, as here, unlike in that case, the legislative purpose and language make clear that the FCPA favors disclosure of funding sources for political committees over secrecy of political committees, even when in conflict. 543 U.S. 1, 11 n.8, 125 S. Ct. 377, 160 L.Ed.2d 271 (2004). The FCPA must be read liberally to effectuate its purpose. These are not ambiguous criminal statutes like in Leocal. This Court also reversed Internet Comm. & Entertainment v. State, 148 Wn. App. 795, 201 P.3d 1045, reversed by 169 Wn.2d 687 (2010).

underlying and express policy objectives. That process does not render a statute vague, so there is no constitutional infirmity.

Eyman next argues that he has a First Amendment right to solicit and use charitable donations without disclosing the donor names, and the FCPA's requirements for political committees violates that right. But as the Court of Appeals pointed out, "he provides no exacting scrutiny analysis or any other explanation of why the FCPA's disclosure requirements are not substantially related to the State's well-recognized interest in informing the electorate. And he does not argue that disclosing of the names of donors would subject them to threats or harassment." Eyman, 24 Wn. App. at 843. The cases he cites are similarly inapposite, as they address consumer protection claims against a charity organization that receives and sells used goods, not an individual who receives contributions in support of ballot initiatives. See City of Lakewood v. Willis, 186 Wn.2d 210, 375 P.3d 1056 (2016); State v. TVI, Inc., ___ Wn.3d ___, 524 P.3d 622 (2023).

Eyman laments about the requirements he has to fulfill as a continuing political committee. But these requirements exist only because Eyman structured himself to be a continuing political committee. Any additional injunctive provisions were entered because of Eyman's repeated egregious FCPA violations.

The reporting requirements likewise present no unconstitutional burden on Eyman's right to free speech. *See State v. Grocery Manufacturers Association*, 195 Wn.2d 442, 461-62, 461 P3d 334 (*GMA* II); *Voters Educ. Comm.*, 161 Wn.2d at 492. As this Court explained, "disclosure requirements—certainly in most applications—appear to be the least restrictive means of curbing the evils of campaign ignorance and corruption." *Voters Educ. Comm.*, 161 Wn.2d at 482-83 (quoting *Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1, 68, 96 S. Ct. 612, 46 L. Ed. 2d 659 (1976)).

For this reason, Federal Election Commission v.

Massachusetts Citizens for Life, Inc., 479 U.S. 238,

107 S. Ct. 616, 93 L. Ed. 2d 539 (1986) (*MCFL*), does not help Eyman. *MCFL* concerned an incorporated entity subject to "more extensive requirements and more stringent restrictions than it would be if it were not incorporated." *Id.* at 254. The government interest in *MCFL* was to control the effect of corporate money in politics. *Id.* at 257. By contrast, the government interest here is far weightier: protecting the public's right to information during the election process, which is itself an important First Amendment right. *See Voters Educ. Comm.*, 161 Wn.2d at 483; *see also* RCW 42.17A.001(10).

As the Court of Appeals explained, the government interest is particularly strong here because Eyman has a history of promoting anonymous donations and moving funds between his campaigns without properly disclosing them. The public has a strong interest in knowing the funding sources for Eyman's political campaigns, just as donors have an interest in knowing that their money is being appropriately used for the intended campaign. Eyman fails to show that this issue warrants review.

I. The State Should Be Awarded Its Costs and Fees for Answering This Petition

Pursuant to RAP 18.1 and RCW 42.17A.780, the State requests its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in an amount determined after this Court denies review or enters a favorable decision.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals issued a careful opinion addressing Eyman's many legal and factual arguments. Eyman fails to show that analysis meets the RAP 13.4(b) factors. The Court should deny review.

This document contains 4,955 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.